
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
EASTERN DISTRICT OF MISSOURI 

EASTERN DIVISION 
 
MCBRIDE & SON COMPANIES, LLC, ) 
      ) 
    Plaintiff, ) 
      ) 
v.      ) Case No. __________ 
      ) 
PATRICK JONATHAN KELLEY,  ) 
      ) 
Serve at:     ) 
416 Mason Creek Drive   ) 
Lake St. Louis, MO 63367   ) 
      ) 
and      ) 
      ) 
MALON L. LEDBETTER,   ) 
      ) 
Serve at:      ) 
539 Parkgate Drive    ) 
O’Fallon, Missouri 63367   ) 
      ) 
    Defendants. ) 
 

COMPLAINT 
 

 Plaintiff, McBride & Son Companies, LLC (“McBride” or “Plaintiff”) files this action 

against Defendants Patrick Jonathan Kelley (“Kelley”) and Malon L. Ledbetter (“Ledbetter” and 

collectively with Kelley, “Defendants”) seeking damages and injunctive relief under the Defend 

Trade Secrets Act of 2016 (18 U.S.C. § 1836(b)(1), as amended), and alleges as follows: 

INTRODUCTION 

1. McBride brings this action against two former employees, both of whom recently 

left the company and accepted employment at McBride’s competitor, Payne Family Homes, LLC 

(“Payne Homes”), seeking injunctive relief and damages to redress Defendants’ illegal and 

unauthorized misappropriation of McBride’s confidential and proprietary trade secret 
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information. Until abruptly leaving their employment with the company, both Kelley and 

Ledbetter were entrusted with access to the most critical, proprietary information in the 

company, including real time sales information, market data, business plans, financial 

information, and other data. Though both Kelley and Ledbetter were bound by non-solicitation 

and separation agreements, respectively, in addition to their duties to abide by the laws of the 

United States and Missouri, both employees have maliciously and unlawfully acquired, 

disclosed, and used to their competitive advantage McBride’s trade secret information.   

2. For instance, on his last day of employment with the company, Kelley sent from 

his company email account to his personal email account proprietary trade secret information 

reflecting certain subdivision budgets, sales goals and thresholds, and the gross profit associated 

with the same. Even after leaving, though, Kelley and Ledbetter were not done abusing 

McBride’s trust. McBride’s investigation has revealed that Defendants continued to illegally 

access McBride’s confidential Salesforce Chatter database, which contains proprietary trade 

secret information such as real time sales data. McBride has further confirmed that several of 

these incidents of computer tampering and trade secret theft occurred from an internet protocol 

address that is owned by or affiliated with Payne Homes.   

3. In addition to misappropriation by email, and improper Salesforce Chatter access 

in tandem with Ledbetter, before leaving McBride’s employment, Kelley used his McBride 

computer in an aberrant and suspicious manner in the final days of his employment, including 

the installment of both a Western Digital My Passport storage device capable of storing at least 

one terabyte of digital information and a Microsoft OneDrive cloud account executable, which 

evidence can lead only to the conclusion that Kelley in fact misappropriated additional 

confidential, trade secret information of McBride.  
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THE PARTIES 

4. McBride is a company organized and existing under the laws of the State of 

Missouri with its principal place of business in St. Louis, Missouri. 

5. Kelley and Ledbetter are former employees of McBride and current employees of 

Payne and are also both residents of the state of Missouri. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

6. This trade secret misappropriation action raises a federal question under the 

Defend Trade Secrets Act of 2016, 18 U.S.C. § 1836 (“DTSA”). Thus, this Court has subject 

matter jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331. This Court has supplemental 

jurisdiction over McBride’s other claims, including its claim under the Missouri Uniform Trade 

Secrets Act, Mo. Rev. Stat. § 417.450, et seq. (“MUTSA”), pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367.   

7. This Court has personal jurisdiction over both Kelley and Ledbetter because both 

reside in Missouri and committed unlawful acts within this District. 

8. Venue is appropriate in this judicial district under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)(2) because 

a substantial part of the events or omissions giving rise to the claims herein occurred and/or a 

substantial part of the property that is the subject of this action is situated within this judicial 

district.  

FACTS RELEVANT TO ALL CLAIMS 

Background 

9. McBride has been building homes for area residents for more than 70 years and is 

recognized as a market leader, providing customers with excellent customer service and superior 

craftsmanship. Through its extensive history and experience, McBride has amassed valuable 

proprietary sales information, business plans, financial information, and other data that allows it 
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to continuously improve, maintain its competitive edge, and better serve its customers. McBride 

is three times larger than any other area builder—in fact, the company is larger than its top ten 

competitors combined. As a result of this hard-earned success, McBride possesses vastly more 

market data than its competitors, which it uses to inform careful land purchasing and 

development decisions. If a competitor improperly gains insight into this market data, 

particularly in real time, it allows for competition that does not otherwise exist and can cause 

McBride tremendous harm. 

10. Payne Homes is a competitor of McBride’s and has been in operation for 

approximately ten years. 

11. McBride employed Kelley as a Project Manager until leaving the company on or 

about September 20, 2018. In his role as a Project Manager, Kelley was provided access to 

sensitive sales and marketing information because such information was necessary to perform his 

job functions. Kelley’s job function as a Project Manager included oversight of a number of 

subdivisions or communities, where he was responsible for helping the company meets its goals 

in sales and gross profit associated with sales, as well as overseeing the sales team for that 

community. 

12. McBride employed Ledbetter as a Sales Manager until leaving the company only 

one week after Kelley, on September 27, 2018. As Sales Manager, Ledbetter was entrusted with 

less access to McBride’s proprietary information. However, Ledbetter was provided with a 

unique login and password to access McBride’s Salesforce Chatter, described further below, 

which contains proprietary company information. Ledbetter’s job was to sell the homes within 

the communities or subdivisions of McBride, and she typically was on site at these homes as a 

result. 
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13. Kelley announced he was leaving the company on Thursday, September 6, 2018. 

Kelley informed McBride that he was leaving the company to take time off to address his 

mother’s health and grieve his father’s recent passing. Kelley stated that during this time period 

he would contemplate his next career move. Kelley did not at any time express to McBride that 

he was accepting a position with Payne Homes.  

14. Likewise, Ledbetter did not disclose to McBride that she intended to work for 

Payne Homes upon her departure from McBride. 

15. McBride takes significant measures to protect the proprietary sales information, 

business plans, financial information, and other data that has allowed McBride to build and 

protect its market position. McBride has a detailed Employee Handbook that is updated from 

time to time and that includes detailed instructions as to acceptable and unacceptable uses of 

company computers and networks.  

16. The Employee Handbook, for instance, is clear that McBride strictly prohibits any 

employee’s use of an unauthorized access code, accessing computer files that the employee has 

no right to access, or dissemination of confidential information that is derived from electronic or 

other sources. The Employee Handbook explicitly prohibits employees from accessing, 

distributing, or publishing trade secrets or proprietary information of McBride without prior 

authorization. 

17. To ensure its employees read, understand, and fully agree to the terms of the 

Employee Handbook, McBride’s practice is to ask employees to sign a Statement of 

Understanding, acknowledging that the employee has received a copy of the Employee 

Handbook and agrees to abide by it as well as all the rules and regulations of the company. 

Case: 4:18-cv-02013-JAR   Doc. #:  1   Filed: 11/30/18   Page: 5 of 25 PageID #: 5



6 
 

18. Kelley signed his Statement of Understanding on July 21, 2014, reflecting that he 

read, understood, and agreed to be bound by the Employee Handbook. 

19. On July 21, 2014, Kelley signed a non-solicitation agreement that bound his 

conduct upon leaving McBride. A copy of this non-solicitation agreement is attached hereto as 

Exhibit A (“the Kelley Contract”). 

20. The Kelley Contract expressly prohibits the solicitation of McBride’s corporate 

opportunities or clients: 

In consideration of Employee’s continued employment with McBride . . . , 
Employee agrees that for the eighteen (18) month period following the 
termination of Employee’s employment with McBride, Employee will not solicit, 
on his own behalf or on behalf of others: (1) any opportunities presented to or 
pursued by McBride during the six (6) months immediately preceding the 
termination of Employee’s employment with McBride; (2) work on any projects 
on which McBride was working at the time of the termination of Employee’s 
employment with McBride; and (3) any prospective McBride homebuyer. 
 
21. The agreement further prohibits soliciting McBride’s employees or independent 

contractors: 

For the eighteen (18) month period following the termination of Employee’s 
employment with McBride, Employee will not solicit or offer to hire or employ, 
for himself or on behalf of others, any person who (a) has had contact with and 
developed relationships with McBride’s current and prospective customers, 
current and prospective suppliers or other employees, or has learned McBride’s 
methods for developing and delivering products and services to McBride’s 
customers, and (b) is currently employed or has been employed by McBride . . . 
during the six (6) months immediately preceding the termination of Employee’s 
employment with McBride. 

 
22. Kelley’s non-solicitation agreement explicitly further prohibits him from using for 

his own benefit, or divulging to others, any McBride trade secrets or other confidential 

information. 

Employee will not during the term of his employment, or at any time after 
termination of his employment . . . divulge to others, or use for Employee’s own 
benefit, or the benefit of others, any trade secrets or confidential information 
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which Employee has acquired from McBride or others by reason of Employee’s 
employment with McBride, including but not limited to, the identity of past, 
current or prospective McBride customers, McBride’s proposals to and 
agreements with McBride’s current or prospective customers and suppliers and 
McBride’s methods for developing and delivering products and services to 
McBride’s current or prospective customers. 
 
23. Lastly, the Kelley Contract states that McBride “shall be entitled to temporary, 

preliminary and permanent injunctive relief from any court of competent jurisdiction,” and 

Kelley further agreed that it is “within the court’s discretion to award the prevailing party that 

party’s attorneys’ fees and costs.”  

24. Likewise, Ledbetter signed a separation agreement on October 23, 2018 that 

bound her upon leaving McBride. A copy of this separation agreement is attached hereto as 

Exhibit B (“the Ledbetter Contract”). 

25. In her separation agreement, Ledbetter “affirms that [she] has not divulged any 

proprietary or confidential information of McBride and will continue to maintain the 

confidentiality of such information consistent with McBride policies and [Ledbetter’s] 

agreement(s) with McBride.”  

26. The Ledbetter Contract further provides that Ledbetter had “returned to McBride 

all McBride information and property including, but not limited to . . . files, memoranda, 

customer lists, any information concerning McBride projects, customers and clients, and any and 

all documents relating to McBride business . . . .” Ledbetter expressly agreed that she 

“understands that [she] is not to retain any documents or computer records relating in any way to 

McBride’s business.” 

27. Ledbetter likewise agreed that upon breach of her separation agreement, McBride 

shall be entitled to injunctive relief, as well as its attorneys’ fees and costs. 
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McBride’s Salesforce Chatter 

28. McBride uses Salesforce Chatter, a well-known sales management platform that 

facilitates the sharing of McBride’s sales and marketing information among company employees. 

29. Also on Salesforce Chatter, every single McBride sale is posted in real time 

across all of the communities that it serves. This includes the lot number, subdivision, 

salesperson, project manager, and type of sale. Real time access by a competitor to McBride’s 

information would enable a competitor to unfairly compete on price. This is critical, proprietary 

information. For any competitor to have any access to this data, let alone real time information, 

can cause tremendous financial damage. The fact that the data was in real time is particularly 

important because it strips away the traditional lag time between a sale and a closing. In other 

words, a competitor traditionally would not know about a sale until its closing, usually at least 

ninety days after sale. With real time information, a competitor can gauge market trends and 

adjust its land purchasing as well as its pricing decisions.  

30. McBride likewise uses Salesforce Chatter to communicate proprietary incentives 

and programs for its buyers. This is confidential, non-public information. For example, at the 

beginning of most months, McBride shares programs with its team such as special financing 

packages, discount programs, and design studio information, all of which are confidential and 

proprietary.    

31. McBride has amassed a large amount of sales data that assists it in making 

favorable land purchasing decisions. This land acquisition market data is critical, proprietary 

information. A much smaller competitor like Payne Homes, by virtue of its smaller size, could 

not possibly possess nearly as much market data as McBride. If this information falls into the 
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hands of Payne Homes, this operates to allow them to compete with McBride in a way they are 

not otherwise able to do as a smaller builder and can cause a tremendous amount of harm. 

32. Salesforce Chatter further contains each employee’s personal information, such as 

job titles, phone numbers, and emails. Improper access to Salesforce Chatter, then, allows 

visibility into who McBride’s best performing salespersons are, and how to contact them, 

allowing for improper solicitation of McBride’s best employees.   

33. Employees access Salesforce Chatter only through a unique username, which is 

their company email address and password.  

Kelley and Ledbetter’s Illegal Access to Salesforce Chatter 

34. After leaving McBride’s employment, Kelley began to engage in illegal 

tampering with computer data and theft of McBride’s proprietary and trade secret information, in 

violation of both state and federal law.  

35. On September 23, 2018—only three days after leaving employment, and on three 

separate occasions—Kelley accessed McBride’s Salesforce Chatter by using a username and 

password assigned to him during his employment with McBride. 

36. Kelley violated state and federal law by improperly accessing McBride’s 

Salesforce Chatter containing sensitive sales and marketing information, among other 

information contained within Salesforce Chatter, and he also was in clear violation of the Kelley 

Contract where he agreed not to “divulge to others, or use for Employee’s own benefit, or the 

benefit of others, any trade secrets or confidential information which Employee has acquired 

from McBride.” 

37. McBride became aware of this improper, illegal tampering with its computer data 

on or about November 9, 2018 and immediately took additional security steps to ensure that 

Case: 4:18-cv-02013-JAR   Doc. #:  1   Filed: 11/30/18   Page: 9 of 25 PageID #: 9



10 
 

access to its Salesforce Chatter database by way of Kelley’s prior username and password were 

terminated. 

38. Thereafter, Kelley further attempted to improperly access Salesforce Chatter, and 

on November 9, 2018, he was denied access to the database. In fact, Kelley attempted to access 

the database from both his iPhone application and from an internet browser.  

39. From when he left McBride through November 9, 2018, Kelley’s login credential 

were used to access Salesforce Chatter forty one (41) times. 

40. Ledbetter improperly accessed trade secret information on Salesforce Chatter 

even more swiftly than Kelley after leaving the company, as she twice accessed Salesforce 

Chatter on September 28, 2018, the day after she left McBride. 

41. In all, Ledbetter’s Salesforce Chatter credentials were used to access McBride’s 

confidential, proprietary Salesforce Chatter database seventy nine (79) times from the date she 

left the company until McBride terminated the ability to access Salesforce Chatter by way of 

Ledbetter’s username and password. 

42. In fact, Ledbetter not only accessed Salesforce Chatter on October 23, 2018—the 

very day she signed a separation agreement with McBride vowing not to “retain any documents 

or computer records relating in any way to McBride’s business”—she accessed Salesforce 

Chatter twenty four times thereafter. 

43. Several of these incidents of computer tampering and trade secret theft occurred 

from an internet protocol address that McBride can show is owned by or affiliated with Payne 

Homes. 

44. Upon information and belief, Kelley and Ledbetter also shared their login 

information to McBride’s Salesforce Chatter, allowing additional Payne Homes employees to 
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access Salesforce Chatter—as demonstrated by 120 instances of improper access to McBride’s 

Salesforce Chatter since they left employment. 

Kelley’s Additional Illegal Trade Secret Theft By Email 

45. On the very day he left the company, September 20, 2018, Kelley sent proprietary 

trade secret information reflecting certain subdivision budgets, sales goals and thresholds, and 

the gross profit associated with the same from his company email account 

jkelley@mcbridehomes.com to his personal email account pjonkelley@gmail.com.  

46. Kelley accomplished this exfiltration of confidential, trade secret information by 

two separate emails, both at 12:13 pm local time, containing spreadsheets titled “July 

Budgets.xlsx.” and “PM Incentive Plan June 2018.xls.” 

47. “July Budgets.xlsx” and “PM Incentive Plan June 2018.xls” disclose gross profit 

goals, along with sales goals, across several communities served by McBride.  

48. “July Budgets.xlsx” and “PM Incentive Plan June 2018.xls” further show in 

which communities McBride is expecting growth of sales and in which communities the 

company is lowering prices and gross profit to encourage more sales. 

49. “July Budgets.xlsx” and “PM Incentive Plan June 2018.xls” therefore grant a 

competitive edge to a competitor in pricing and further improperly allow a competitor to change 

their business plan in an attempt to match or exceed McBride’s ever-changing business model. 

Kelley’s Additional Illegal Trade Secret Theft By External Device 

50.  Besides illegally accessing Salesforce Chatter and conveying proprietary, trade 

secret data by email exfiltration, upon information and belief, Kelley took proprietary company 

data by way of an external hard drive.  
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51. Just one week prior to announcing his departure from McBride, on September 6, 

2018, Kelley inserted into his computer a Western Digital My Passport storage device,1 capable 

of storing at least one terabyte of digital information. This device was first connected to Kelley’s 

computer on August 28, 2018 

52.  This Western Digital My Passport storage device was last inserted into Kelley’s 

computer on September 6, 2018 at 7:54 pm and last removed on September 6, 2018 at 9:19 pm. 

53. Only through forensic examination of the Western Digital My Passport storage 

device itself may McBride determine how many times he connected the device between August 

28, 2018 and September 6, 2018. 

54. Only through forensic examination of the Western Digital My Passport storage 

device itself may McBride determine precisely what data or proprietary information Kelley 

illegally placed on the device. 

55. McBride is not in possession of the Western Digital My Passport storage device. 

56. Upon information and belief, Kelley is in possession of the Western Digital My 

Passport storage device. 

57. Kelley’s computer usage for the relevant timeframe in this matter reveals 

additional suspicious activity on September 5, 2018, during a time period in which the Western 

Digital My Passport external hard drive may have been connected to his computer. Upon 

information and belief, Kelley placed a wealth of sensitive, proprietary trade secret information 

on the Western Digital My Passport storage device. 

                                                 
1 The device has an identification number of: 
Disk&Ven_WD&Prod_My_Passport_25E1&Rev_1015\57585231453236324A58444E&0 
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58. For instance, while the Western Digital My Passport storage device was 

connected to Kelley’s computer, Kelley interacted with a file entitled “jon work.pst,” which is an 

email repository containing multiple emails.  

59. System log analysis shows this .pst file was created from Outlook on September 

5, 2018 at 7:44 pm, just ten minutes before Kelly connected the Western Digital My Passport 

storage device to his computer. This same device was inserted into his computer again ten 

minutes later, at 7:54 pm, and last removed that same day at 9:19 pm. It therefore was connected 

to his computer for eighty five minutes. 

60. The link file pointing to “jon work.pst” was last updated at 8:28 pm, less than one 

hour before Kelley removed the Western Digital My Passport storage device from his McBride 

computer for the final time and while the device was in fact connected.   

61. Upon information and belief, Kelley copied the entirety of “jon work.pst” onto the 

Western Digital My Passport storage device during this timeframe. 

62. Upon information and belief, Kelley’s conduct relative to this .pst file, and his 

other suspicious activity on September 5, 2018, was to avoid the prospect that he might have 

been told to leave the company immediately during his planned resignation the next morning, 

September 6, 2018. 

Kelley’s Additional Illegal Trade Secret Theft By Cloud Account 

63. Kelley installed a Microsoft OneDrive executable on the computer on September 

17, 2018, just three days prior to his departure from the company.   

64. OneDrive is an online cloud storage platform that easily allows for the sharing of 

documents. 

Case: 4:18-cv-02013-JAR   Doc. #:  1   Filed: 11/30/18   Page: 13 of 25 PageID #: 13



14 
 

65. OneDrive may be accessed through an internet browser by using a unique 

username and password, but it also may be installed as a background executable, as Kelley did, 

to allow one to easily drag-and-drop files to OneDrive. 

66. Once information is sent to OneDrive, it is accessible and sharable from another 

computer and by other users unknown to McBride 

67. There is no reason for a user to install OneDrive onto his or her computer other 

than to upload information for this purpose. 

68. One day after Kelley installed OneDrive, and just before he ceased his 

employment with McBride, he accessed numerous files on McBride’s H: drive and O: drive 

69. This activity, like the activity of September 5, 2018, is not consistent with 

Kelley’s normal practices and habits in engaging with McBride’s network locations. 

70. Upon information and belief, on September 18, 2018, Kelley uploaded McBride’s 

critical, proprietary trade secret information to OneDrive. 

COUNT I: 
MISAPPROPRIATION OF TRADE SECRETS  

UNDER THE DEFEND TRADE SECRETS ACT OF 2016  
Defendants Kelley and Ledbetter 

 
71. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 70 as if 

fully alleged herein. 

McBride’s Trade Secrets 

72. The information contained in McBride’s Salesforce Chatter database, the 

information contained in the emails sent by Kelley to his personal email account, and the 

information misappropriated by the external hard drive and cloud account were at all relevant 

times McBride’s trade secret information within the meaning of the DTSA, 18 U.S.C. § 1839(3). 

The information represents confidential financial, business information, including plans, 
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compilations, formulas, methods, processes, and procedures. McBride took reasonable measures 

to keep the information secret, and the information derived independent economic value from not 

being generally known and not readily ascertainable through proper means by another person, 

who could obtain economic value from the disclosure of said information. 

73. Neither Kelley nor Ledbetter has any right, title, or interest in the trade secret 

information contained on McBride’s Salesforce Chatter.   

Defendants’ Misappropriation 

74. By their conduct, Defendants misappropriated McBride’s trade secrets by 

a. acquiring them from McBride by improper means in violation of 18 U.S.C.  

§ 1839(5)(A); 

b. sharing them and therefore acquiring them from one another with knowledge and 

reason to believe both had acquired them by improper means in violation of 18 

U.S.C. § 1839(5)(A); 

c. disclosing and using them without McBride’s express or implied consent when 

they themselves had acquired them through improper means in violation of 18 

U.S.C. § 1839(5)(B)(i); 

d. disclosing and using them without McBride’s express or implied consent when 

they knew and had reason to know that the trade secret information was derived 

from improper means, acquired under circumstances giving rise to a duty to 

maintain the secrecy of the trade secret information, and derived from a person 

who owed a duty to McBride to maintain the secrecy of the trade secret 

information in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1839(5)(B)(ii)(I-III). 
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75. Defendants acquired McBride’s trade secret information unlawfully by theft, 

misrepresentation, breach of their duty to maintain the secrecy of the trade secret information 

and other illegal means. 

76. Defendants knew they were violating state and federal law in misappropriating 

McBride’s trade secret information. 

Damages 

77. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ violations of the DTSA, McBride 

has incurred, and will continue to incur, substantial damages. 

78. Defendants’ actions were willful, wanton, and malicious and were taken with 

reckless disregard for the rights of McBride, in that Defendants knew or had reason to know they 

were not authorized to access, acquire, use, or disclose this trade secret information.  

79. Defendant’s actions have caused and will continue to cause Plaintiff irreparable 

harm that cannot be fully redressed through damages, and entitles Plaintiff to injunctive relief. 

Defendants should be immediately, preliminarily and permanently enjoined from any use of 

McBride’s trade secrets and should be further enjoined from sharing the unlawfully obtained 

information with others. 

80. Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1836(b)(3)(B), McBride is entitled to an award of 

damages in the amount of McBride’s actual losses and Defendants’ unjust enrichment. 

81. Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1836(b)(3)(C), McBride is entitled to exemplary damages 

for Defendants’ willful and malicious misappropriation of McBride’s trade secrets. 

82. Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1836(b)(3)(D), McBride is entitled to recovery of its 

attorneys’ fees because of Defendants’ willful and malicious misappropriation of McBride’s 

trade secrets. 
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 WHEREFORE, Plaintiff seeks a judgment against Defendant for compensatory and 

exemplary damages, restitution for unjust enrichment, preliminary and permanent injunctive 

relief, prejudgment interest, an award of costs and reasonable attorneys’ fees pursuant to the 

DTSA, and such other relief as the Court deems just and proper. 

COUNT II: 
VIOLATION OF THE MISSOURI UNIFORM TRADE SECRETS ACT 

Defendants Kelley and Ledbetter 
 

83. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 82 as if 

fully alleged herein. 

McBride’s Trade Secrets 

84. The information contained in McBride’s Salesforce Chatter, the information 

contained in the emails sent by Kelley to his personal email account, and the information 

misappropriated by external device and cloud account were at all relevant times McBride’s trade 

secret information within the meaning of the MUTSA, Mo. Rev. Stat.  

§ 417.453(4). The information represents confidential technical and non-technical business data, 

including compilations, formulas, methods, techniques, and processes. McBride took reasonable 

measures to keep the information secret, and the information derived independent economic 

value from not being generally known and not readily ascertainable through proper means by 

another person who could obtain economic value from the disclosure of said information. 

85. Neither Kelley nor Ledbetter has any right, title, or interest in the trade secret 

information contained on McBride’s Salesforce Chatter. 

Defendants’ Misappropriation 

86. By their conduct, Defendants misappropriated McBride’s trade secrets by 
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a. acquiring them from McBride by improper means in violation of Mo. Rev.  

Stat. § 417.453(2)(a); 

b. sharing them and therefore acquiring them from one another with knowledge and 

reason to believe both had acquired them by improper means in violation of in 

violation of Mo. Rev. Stat. § 417.453(2)(a); 

c. disclosing and using them without McBride’s express or implied consent when 

they themselves had acquired them through improper means in violation of Mo. 

Rev. Stat. § 417.453(2)(b)(a); 

d. disclosing and using them without McBride’s express or implied consent when 

they knew and had reason to know that the trade secret information was derived 

from improper means, acquired under circumstances giving rise to a duty to 

maintain the secrecy of the trade secret information, and derived from a person 

who owed a duty to McBride to maintain the secrecy of the trade secret 

information in violation of Mo. Rev. Stat. § 417.453(2)(b)(c)(i.-iii.). 

87. Defendants acquired McBride’s trade secret information unlawfully by theft, 

misrepresentation, breach of their duty to maintain the secrecy of the trade secret information, 

and other illegal means. 

88. Defendants knew they were violating state and federal law in misappropriating 

McBride’s trade secret information. 

Damages 

89. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ violations of the MUTSA, 

McBride has incurred, and will continue to incur, substantial damages. 
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90. Defendants’ actions were willful, wanton, and malicious and were taken with 

reckless disregard for the rights of McBride, in that Defendants knew or had reason to know they 

were not authorized to access, acquire, use, or disclose this trade secret information. 

91. Defendant’s actions have caused and will continue to cause Plaintiff irreparable 

harm that cannot be fully redressed through damages and entitles Plaintiff to injunctive relief. 

Defendants should be immediately, preliminarily, and permanently enjoined from any use of 

McBride’s trade secrets and should be further enjoined from sharing the unlawfully obtained 

information with others. 

92. Pursuant to Mo. Rev. Stat. § 417.457(1), McBride is entitled to an award of 

damages in the amount of McBride’s actual losses and Defendants’ unjust enrichment. 

93. Pursuant to Mo. Rev. Stat. § 417.457(1), McBride is entitled to punitive damages 

because Defendants acted with evil motive or reckless indifference to the rights of others in their 

misappropriation of McBride’s trade secrets. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff seeks a judgment against Defendant for compensatory and 

punitive damages, restitution for unjust enrichment, preliminary and permanent injunctive relief, 

prejudgment interest, and such other relief as the Court deems just and proper. 

COUNT III: 
BREACH OF NON-SOLICITATION AGREEMENT 

Defendant Kelley 
 
94. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 93 as if 

fully alleged herein. 

95. There existed between McBride and Kelley an agreement that constitutes a valid 

contract, with offer and acceptance, and supported by consideration. 
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96. In his agreement with McBride, Kelley explicitly recognized and agreed he was 

prohibited from soliciting McBride’s corporate opportunities or clients, from soliciting 

McBride’s employees or independent contractors, and from using for his own benefit, or 

divulging to others, any McBride trade secrets or other confidential information.  

97. The conduct of Kelley described above in paragraphs 1 through 70 breached his 

contract with McBride.  

98. As a direct and proximate result of Kelley’s breach of contract, McBride has 

incurred and is likely to incur substantial damages in an amount that will be established at trial of 

this matter.  

99. The contract between Kelley and McBride further states that McBride “shall be 

entitled to temporary, preliminary and permanent injunctive relief from any court of competent 

jurisdiction,” and Kelley further agreed that it is “within the court’s discretion to award the 

prevailing party that party’s attorneys’ fees and costs.” 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff seeks a judgment against Defendant Kelley for compensatory 

damages, preliminary and permanent injunctive relief, prejudgment interest, an award of costs 

and reasonable attorneys’ fees, and such other relief as the Court deems just and proper. 

COUNT IV: 
BREACH OF SEPARATION AGREEMENT 

Defendant Ledbetter 
 

100. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 99 as if 

fully alleged herein. 

101. There existed between McBride and Ledbetter an agreement that constitutes a 

valid contract, with offer and acceptance, and supported by consideration. 
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102. In her agreement with McBride, Ledbetter “affirms that [she] has not divulged 

any proprietary or confidential information of McBride and will continue to maintain the 

confidentiality of such information consistent with McBride policies and [Ledbetter’s] 

agreement(s) with McBride.” 

103. Ledbetter further stated that she had “returned to McBride all McBride 

information and property including, but not limited to . . . files, memoranda, customer lists, any 

information concerning McBride projects, customers and clients, and any and all documents 

relating to McBride business . . . .” and agreed that she “understands that [she] is not to retain 

any documents or computer records relating in any way to McBride’s business.” 

104. The conduct of Ledbetter described above in paragraphs 1 through 70 breached 

her contract with McBride. 

105. As a direct and proximate result of Kelley’s breach of contract, McBride has 

incurred and is likely to incur substantial damages in an amount that will be established at trial of 

this matter. 

106. The contract between Ledbetter and McBride further states that upon breach of 

her separation agreement, McBride shall be entitled to injunctive relief, as well as its attorneys’ 

fees and costs. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff seeks a judgment against Defendant Ledbetter for compensatory 

damages, preliminary and permanent injunctive relief, prejudgment interest, an award of costs 

and reasonable attorneys’ fees, and such other relief as the Court deems just and proper. 

COUNT V: 
CIVIL CONSPIRACY 

Defendants Kelley and Ledbetter 
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107. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 106 as if 

fully alleged herein. 

108. Kelley and Ledbetter had a meeting of the minds to accomplish an unlawful 

objective, including but not limited to misappropriating McBride’s trade secrets. 

109. In furtherance of their conspiracy, both Kelley and Ledbetter committed at least 

the overt acts described in paragraphs 1 through 70. 

110. As a direct and proximate result of this conspiracy, McBride has been harmed and 

will continue to be irreparably harmed by Kelley’s and Ledbetter’s concerted actions. 

111. McBride has incurred attorneys’ fees, expenses, and costs in connection with 

Kelley’s and Ledbetter’s concerted actions. 

112. McBride is entitled to punitive damages. 

 WHEREFORE, Plaintiff seeks a judgment against Defendants for compensatory 

damages, preliminary and permanent injunctive relief, prejudgment interest, and such other relief 

as the Court deems just and proper. 

COUNT VII: 
VIOLATION OF THE MISSOURI COMPUTER  

DATA ACCESS AND FRAUD STATUTE 
Defendants Kelley and Ledbetter 

 
113. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 112 as if 

fully alleged herein. 

114. On at least the dates described above and in at least the manners set forth herein, 

Defendants knowingly and without authorization, and without reasonable grounds to believe 

such authorization existed, disclosed and took proprietary data, programs, and supporting 

documentation residing or existing internal to McBride’s computer, computer system, or 

computer network in violation of R.S. Mo. § 569.095(1)(3). 
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115. On at least the dates described above and in at least the manners set forth herein, 

Defendants knowingly and without authorization, and without reasonable grounds to believe 

such authorization existed, disclosed and took a password, identifying code, personal 

identification numbers, and other confidential information about McBride’s computer system or 

network in violation of R.S. Mo. § 569.095(1)(4). 

116. On at least the dates described above and in at least the manners set forth herein, 

Defendants knowingly and without authorization, and without reasonable grounds to believe 

such authorization existed, accessed a computer, computer system, and computer network and 

intentionally examined information about McBride in violation of R.S. Mo. § 569.095(1)(5). 

117. On at least the dates described above and in at least the manners set forth herein, 

Defendants knowingly and without authorization, and without reasonable grounds to believe 

such authorization existed, received retained, used, and disclosed data they knew and believed to 

be obtained in violation of the Missouri Computer Data Access and Fraud Statute in violation of 

R.S. Mo. § 569.095(1)(6). 

118. As a direct and proximate result of these violations of Missouri law, McBride has 

been harmed and will continue to be irreparably harmed. 

119. McBride has incurred attorneys’ fees, expenses, and costs in connection with 

Kelley’s and Ledbetter’s violations of this statute. 

120. McBride is entitled to punitive damages. 

 WHEREFORE, Plaintiff seeks a judgment against Defendants for compensatory 

damages, preliminary and permanent injunctive relief, prejudgment interest, and such other relief 

as the Court deems just and proper.  
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PRAYERS FOR RELIEF 

 WHEREFORE, McBride respectfully requests this Court to: 

 A. Enter an order and judgment in favor of McBride and against Defendants on all 

counts stated herein; 

 B. Enter an order and judgment awarding damages to McBride for all actual 

damages suffered and all unjust enrichment realized by Defendants from their violations of 

DTSA and MUTSA; 

 C. Enter a preliminary injunction and, after trial, a permanent injunction, ordering 

Defendants to uphold their duties to McBride including, but not limited to: 

(i) Prohibiting Defendants from directly or indirectly using or disclosing 
McBride’s trade secrets; 
 
(ii) Prohibiting Defendants from directly or indirectly divulging or otherwise 
making any use of McBride’s trade secrets; 

 
 D. Enter a preliminary injunction and, after trial, a permanent injunction, ordering 

Defendants to certify, in writing and under pains and penalties of perjury, that they have returned 

all of McBride’s confidential and proprietary information and no longer have any of McBride’s 

confidential and proprietary information in their possession, custody, or control; 

 E. Enter a preliminary injunction and, after trial, a permanent injunction, ordering 

Defendants to: 

(i) Return to McBride any and all of its confidential information in the custody, 
control, or possession of either Defendant; 
 
(ii) Identify any McBride confidential information that has been disclosed by 
anyone and the names of any individual to whom such disclosure was made; and, 
 
(iii) Preserve and retain all documents and electronically stored information 
potentially relevant to the claims raised in McBride’s Complaint; 
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 F. Enter an order and judgment in favor of McBride and against Defendants for 

reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs that McBride has incurred and will incur in this case; 

 G. Enter an order and judgment in favor of McBride and against Defendants for 

exemplary damages under the DTSA based on Defendants’ willful and malicious actions; 

 H. Enter an order and judgment in favor of McBride and against Defendants for 

punitive damages under the MUTSA based on Defendants’ outrageous conduct; 

 I. Enter an order and judgment awarding McBride interest on all amounts to which 

McBride is entitled; and 

 J. Grant McBride such other and further relief as the Court deems just and proper. 

JURY DEMAND 
 
 Plaintiff demands a trial by jury on all matters triable by jury. 
 
 

Dated: November 30, 2018   Respectfully submitted, 

HUSCH BLACKWELL, LLP 

/s/ Matthew T. Schelp     
Matthew T. Schelp, 45724MO 
Matthew P. Diehr, 61999MO 
190 Carondelet Plaza, Suite 600 
St. Louis, MO  63105 
T: 314.480.1500 / F: 314.480.1505 
matthew.schelp@huschblackwell.com 
matthew.diehr@huschblackwell.com 
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